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Moorlands is now the heritage section of The Spring. 
 

 
 

Moorlands and the Town Hall in use as the council offices circa 1960. 
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The Spring Arts & Heritage Centre  
Registered Charity No. 297353  

 
The Spring Arts & Heritage Centre is a small venue where big things 

happen.  
 
Our vibrant events and activities help make Havant, Hampshire , and 

the surrounding region a better place to live.  
 
4ÈÅ 3ÐÒÉÎÇ ÉÓ Á ÈÉÇÈÌÉÇÈÔ ÏÆ (ÁÖÁÎÔ "ÏÒÏÕÇÈȭÓ ÃÕÌÔÕÒÁÌ ÌÉÆÅȢ %ÁÃÈ ÙÅÁÒ ×Å 

welcome over 150,000 visitors and audience members to enjoy creative and 

cultural activities, both in our Havant building and across the Borough.  
 
One of the things that makes The Spring really special is its status as an 

integrated arts and heritage centre. The organisation is one of only a handful 

in the UK where arts and heritage activities and exhibitions happen under 

one roof and where live performances take place in a building that also 

houses a museum.  
 
This mixed remit gives us a special focus and we pride ourselves on making 

the most of this by using our heritage knowledge and artefacts to inspire 

artistic activity and using artistic work to bring heritage to life. In practice 

this means making sure our live events feature heritage themed theatre and 

lectures, our exhibitions show work inspired by the local area and our 

participation programme gives people the chance to explore their local 

history. We particularly enjoy managing events that surprise people and help 

people experience heritage in a new way. Our annual Museums at Night 

event, regular Open Days, schools workshop programme and live programme 

do just that! 
 
Having an understanding of local heritage, knowing where we came from and 

learning about the past helps give individuals and a community a sense of 

identity. Cultural experiences of the kind offered by The Spring make our 

lives richer. They give a voice and expression to who we are, what it is to be 

human and help us understand our place in the world.  They give us the tools 

to learn and imagine, describe and talk about difficult things and hand down 

ideas and traditions to future generations. By providing a year round 
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programme of activities The Spring helps Havant celebrate and remember its 

past and work towards a brighter future.  
 
As the only professional museum in the Borough The Spring has an 

important role to play in protecting, recording and celebrating local history. 

We provide a range of resources that can help individuals learn more about 

the past ɀ from our collection of artefacts that look at life in Havant, to the 

timeline of the area, our 1950s recreation kitchen and our Research Room 

with local experts who can help the public research their area and family 

history. The Spring is also an accredited museum, meaning it enjoys the same 

professional status as the national museums. 
 
In order to deliver a full heritage programme The Spring works in 

partnership with organisations including the Hampshire Cultural Trust. The 

#ÕÌÔÕÒÁÌ 4ÒÕÓÔ ɉÆÏÒÍÅÒÌÙ (ÁÍÐÓÈÉÒÅ #ÏÕÎÔÙ #ÏÕÎÃÉÌȭÓ !ÒÔÓ Ǫ -ÕÓÅÕÍÓ 

Service) is an independent charity tasked with caring for the council owned 

museum collections. The majority of the artefacts you see on display at The 

Spring are owned by Hampshire County Council, maintained by the Trust and 

on display thanks to The Spring. The Spring also works in partnership with 

other organisations including Havant Borough Council, Portsmouth City 

Museum, local community organisations and the Heritage Lottery Fund on 

particular projects and aspects of heritage work.  
 
The Spring is an independent charity, managed by a Board of Trustees and a 

teaÍ ÏÆ ÓÔÁÆÆȢ /ÕÒ ×ÏÒË ×ÏÕÌÄÎȭÔ ÂÅ ÐÏÓÓÉÂÌÅ ×ÉÔÈÏÕÔ ÔÈÅ ωπ ÖÏÌÕÎÔÅÅÒÓ ×ÈÏ 

work with us and we send them a huge thank you. As with every small arts 

ÁÎÄ ÈÅÒÉÔÁÇÅ ÃÈÁÒÉÔÙ ×Å ÁÌÓÏ ÃÏÕÌÄÎȭÔ ÓÕÒÖÉÖÅ ×ÉÔÈÏÕÔ ÓÕÐÐÏÒÔ ÆÒÏÍ ÏÕÒ 

funders, members and supporters. We gratefully accept donations, legacies 

and sponsorship to help us continue our work.  

 

For further information about The Spring Arts & Heritage Centre 

please visit: www.thespring.co.uk  

 

 

 

 

http://www.thespring.co.uk/
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A Short History of its Buildings  

and Former Occupiers 
 

Ann Griffiths ɀ February 2015 
 

Introduction  
 
The complex now occupied by The Spring Arts and 

Heritage Centre was originally two separate buildings 

that have since been joined together. 
 
The main arts area, although called a Town Hall, was 

not built as an administrative centre but was used for a 

wide variety of events and meetings. The museum was 

built as a private house. 
 
This short history explores the origins of these 

buildings, their occupiers and their uses over the years 

to the present day.      

 

 

 
 

London House, Town Hall and Lymbourne/Moorlands are shown in black. 

 



 6 

THE TOWN HALL 

In the early 1860s the area where The Spring Arts and Heritage Centre now 

stands was mainly fields but the completion of the Hayling Branch Line, to 

Langstone in 1865 and to Hayling in 1867, paved the way for the 

development of the East End of Havant.  

In 1868 the Havant Town Hall Company Limited was formed under the 

chairmanship of the Lord of the Manor, William Henry Stone MP, who 

donated £500 towards the total cost of £1,500 of the new Town Hall. The 

plans were drawn up by Richard William Drew, William Stone's architect for 

Leigh Park House, and Charles John Longcroft acted as solicitor to the board 

of twelve directors.  

Inside the 85ft by 45ft building was a hall, 55ft by 22ft, with a gallery, seating 

for 300 and a large moveable stage. Solo artists from London performed at 

the grand opening concert on 28th January 1870. Thereafter, the hall was 

used for public meetings, lectures, flower and pet shows, auctions, wedding 

receptions and furniture sales etc. The Town Hall also served as the 

headquarters and armoury of the Havant and Emsworth Volunteer Rifle 

Corps (4th Hants). When Havant and Waterloo Urban District Council was 

formed in 1932 the Town Hall was used as its administrative headquarters.  

Interestingly, then as now, the site was considered to be rather far from the 

town centre but it was chosen because of the affordable cost of the land. 

In April 1890 there was a meeting of shareholders of the Havant Town Hall 

Company, chaired by George Stallard. It was decided to enlarge the hall, build 

a new tea room and kitchen and to carry out other necessary alterations. 

Alfred Edwin Stallard was appointed as architect on 10th June 1890 and 

instructed to prepare plans, which included enlarging the hall. By September 

the plans were ready and the tender by J Crockerell for £661 was accepted. 

(See decorative late Victorian front extension.) 

 

 

 

 



 7 

HAVANT MUSEUM AS A PRIVATE HOUSE 

Havant Museum, now part of The Spring, was built in 1874 as a private house 

known as Lymbourne and later as Moorlands. It had four different owners 

ÂÅÆÏÒÅ ÂÅÉÎÇ ÕÓÅÄ ÂÙ ÔÈÅ 7ÏÍÅÎȭÓ 2ÏÙÁÌ .ÁÖÁÌ 3ÅÒÖÉÃÅ ɉ72.3Ɋ ÆÒÏÍ ρωτς 

until the end of World War Two.   

In 1946 the house was sold to Havant and Waterloo Urban District Council, 

who owned the neighbouring Town Hall. The gap between the buildings was 

filled in at a later stage to make one complex. 

Lymbourne was built on part of Towns End Field at East Town's End. The 

deeds, currently with Havant Borough Council as owners of the building, 

show that in December 1868 an Indenture of Enfranchisement was made, 

between William Henry Stone of one part and the Right Revd Thomas Grant 

DD (Lord Bishop of Southwark), The Right Revd James Danell, and The Very 

Revd John Crookall of Woolhampton, Newbury, of the other.   

At this time Hampshire was in the Roman Catholic Diocese of Southwark and 

the intention was to build a church at Towns End Field. John Bulbeck, a 

prominent local Catholic, had started a fund to raise the necessary capital but 

eventually land in West Street was given for the building of St Joseph's 

Roman Catholic Church. 

MARY CHARGE (1817-1889) AND HER FAMILY 

In November 1873 two plots of pasture land at East Town's End, near the 

Town Hall, were auctioned by Messrs Arnold & Co of Temple Bar.  In 

February 1874 one of the plots, about half an acre, was sold to Miss Mary 

Charge of Havant for £205. The land was bounded on the east by the Hayling 

Branch Line, fronted 115ft of the turnpike road and was up to 186ft deep.  It 

was here that Mary Charge built Lymbourne. Eight years later Miss Charge 

bought half an acre of Woodcock's Meadow from James Softly for £200. This 

land abutted the south side of Miss Charge's property and it was agreed that 

she would erect and maintain the necessary fencing.  

An early directory shows Benjamin Charge as a Chichester saddle maker and 

in 1811 a Benjamin Charge and Mr Henry Comper, drapers, issued a set of 

silver trading tokens from 6d to a crown. The tokens showed clasped hands, 
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as the families had intermarried. The Charges were linen drapers, silk 

mercers and tailors and during the 19th century they spread out from 

Portsea, Chichester and Havant, to towns such as Petersfield, Haslemere and 

Stamford, Lincolnshire.  

London Gazette 1811 

Notice is hereby given, that the Partnership between Charles Charge 

and Stephen Charge, of Havant, in the County of Southampton, and 

Chichester, in the County of Sussex, carrying on Trade as Mercers and 

Linen-Drapers, under the Firm of Charge and Company, was this Day 

dissolved. All Debts owing to and from the said Partnership will be 

received and paid by the said Stephen Charge, who continues to carry 

on the said Concern on his own separate account.  

Witness our Hands ɀ the 25th of February 1811, 

Charles Charge, Stephen Charge 

Mary's father, Charles Charge, was born in Chichester in 1784. He married 

Mary Sealey in Portsea in 1814. The register shows him as a local linen 

draper and Mary as a spinster. Their first child, George, was baptised in 1815 

at Orange Street Congregational Chapel, Portsea. 

Mary, who built Lymbourne, was born in January 1817 and baptised at Castle 

Green Independent Chapel, Bristol, and Benjamin was born in Bristol in 

1818.  In 1819 The Bristol Mercury reported that two girls were committed 

to Newgate for trying to pass two counterfeit notes with intent to defraud 

Charles Charge. By 1820 the family was living in Havant, where Sarah, 

Hannah, Martha and Charles were born between 1820 and 1832. Sarah and 

Hannah were baptised at the Havant Independent Chapel in the Pallant. 

In Havant the drapery business operated from London House, the large 

building adjoining and now part of the Bear Hotel. Charles Charge died in 

1845, aged sixty, and his daughter Mary took over the East Street business. In 

1851 Mary was employing her brother Charles, her cousin Hannah, plus a 

second assistant and three apprentices. 

In April 1855 Harriett Russell was found guilty of stealing some baby clothes 

belonging to Mary Charge; Ann Parfet was found guilty of receiving the 
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clothes and James Russell for receiving a piece of corduroy and other articles. 

The Russells were sentenced to four months imprisonment and Ann Parfet to 

three months imprisonment. 

London Gazette 1857 

NOTICE is hereby given, that the Partnership in business hitherto 

subsisting and carried on by us the undersigned, Benjamin Charge 

and Mary Charge, at Havant, in the county of Southampton, Mercers 

and Linen Drapers, under the firm of Charge and Company, was this 

day dissolved by mutual consent.  

Witness our hands ɀ this 28th day of February, 1857. 

Benjamin Charge 

Mary Charge 

The 1861 census shows Mary, Martha and Charles Charge as drapers in East 

Street with William Hedger as an apprentice.  It was at about this time that 

Mary began to decline in health. In 1865 the business was known as Charles 

Charge & Co. 

London Gazette 1868 

Take notice, that the Co-partnership heretofore existing between 

William Bailey Charge and Charles Charge, of the city of Chichester, in 

the county of Sussex, of the Borough of Stamford, in the county of 

Lincoln, and of Haslemere, in the county of Surrey, Mercers, Drapers, 

and Milliners, is this day dissolved by mutual consent. 

Dated this 18th day of February, 1868. 

W. B. Charge 

Chas. Charge 

Charles Charge, Mary's brother, died on Christmas Day 1869 aged thirty-

seven.  By 1871 Mary, now fifty-four and retired, was living at Lymbourne 

Cottage with a general servant. In 1881 London House was occupied by 

Edward Bate, draper, but was owned by Mary Charge until her death. 
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As Mary was an invalid Lymbourne was designed in the bungalow style with 

two bedrooms downstairs and one upstairs. The house was built of flint and 

brick with red quoins and dressings and a tiled roof. The sale particulars 

after Mary's death stated that additional chamber accommodation might 

readily be added at low cost because of the 18-inch thickness of the outer 

walls. Inside the house there was a kitchen, a scullery, a larder and large beer 

and wine cellars. Gas and water were laid on throughout. Outside there was a 

carriage drive in the front, a coach house, a stable, a paddock and pleasure 

grounds with choice fruit trees and ornamental shrubs.   

However, the unusual feature of the house was the very large hall or music 

room, 42ft by 16ft and 18ft high with a wainscot oak and pitch pine parquet 

floor.  Heating was by means of hot water pipes. This large space now houses 

the museum exhibits.  

Miss Charge was a great supporter of the Havant Choral Society and the 

Lymbourne Amateur Orchestra, lending her hall for rehearsals and helping to 

promote the concerts in any way that she could.  

In September 1865 The Choral Society was founded for recreation and 

improvement and the first conductor was J Coldwell. In 1876, at a concert in 

the Town Hall, 

Miss Charge to whom the Society was largely indebted for its 

existence was carried onto the platform and was able to remain 

there during the whole concert.   

The first concert of the newly formed Lymbourne Amateur Orchestra took 

place in the Town Hall in 1877.  

AccordÉÎÇ ÔÏ 7ÉÌÌÉÁÍ 7ÈÉÔÅȭÓ ÄÉÒÅÃÔÏÒÙ ÆÏÒ ρψχψ ÔÈÅ (ÁÖÁÎÔ ÁÎÄ %ÍÓ×ÏÒÔÈ 

Volunteers Rifle Corps (4th Hants) now had its headquarters at Lymbourne, 

where they could well have stored their rifles in the cellar and done their 

drill and band practice in the large hall. At this time James Du Pré, Esq. was 

Captain of the 4th Hants, the Reverend W. Renaud was chaplain and Mr 

Charles Hodgkins was the drill instructor.     

 

 



 11 

BENJAMIN CHARGE (1818-1873) 

The 1841 and 1851 censuses and an 1855 directory show that Mary's 

brother Benjamin was a draper at The Square, Petersfield. In 1851 he had 

two apprentices and the shop was called Charles Charge. There was a second 

store in the High Street. In the 1861 census Benjamin was at Clapham as a 

tailor, with his wife Martha, who was born at Liss, and his sister Martha, a 

draper, who was born in Havant.  

In 1873 Benjamin, retired tailor and draper of Portsmouth, died of 

suffocation, aged 55. He was described as stout with a short thick neck and 

having a habit of going to the Blue Bell public house in the evening. He came 

home one evening at 11 p.m. and sat drinking four bottles of homemade 

rhubarb wine with a lodger until 1 a.m. He went to bed, apparently sober, but 

at 5 a.m. there was a thump and Charge was found face downwards on the 

floor. The inquest was attended by two surgeons, one being Dr Florio St. 

Quintin Bond from Havant, who was an executor of Benjamin's will, together 

with John Bulbeck, draper, and Harry Scott, yeoman of Warblington.  

Benjamin's effects were valued at £8,000. 

MARY CHARGE'S DEATH 

Mary Charge died at Havant on 3rd April 1889, aged 72.  Her estate 

amounted to £6,402 and her executors were Florio St Quintin Bond, George 

Gloyne of Pilton Brewery, Shepton Mallet and William Carpenter Turner of 

North Hayling.  Mary's obituary stated that: 

She had been an invalid for almost 30 years but had been seriously ill 

for only three months. All through her life she had been a great lover 

and patron of everything musical and most of the musical talent of 

Havant of the present day is due to her kindness in providing the 

means, forming classes, and throwing her house open for practices 

and even paying competent masters to teach those who had a desire 

to learn either vocal or instrumental music. 

At auction the contents of Lymbourne included a handsome Rosewood 

Cottage Pianoforte by Collard and Collard, violins and a quantity of music. 

Other items included a walnut drawing room suite, valuable oil and 
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watercolour pictures and the equipment of four bedrooms. The estate also 

included a two-storey store in Southsea, which was being rented out to a 

trunk manufacturer at the time of Mary's death for £5 a year. 

The house failed to sell at auction and was bought in at £1,175 on 30th 

November 1889. Six £5 gas shares realised £3 12s 6d per share. In 

September 1890 the house was included in another sale but the highest bid 

was £800 and the lot was withdrawn. 

In 1894 Mary's sister Hannah died at Moulton Park Private Asylum, 

Northampton, aged 73. She was also there for the 1881 census. There is an 

earlier mention of her in the 1841 census when she is at the home of the 

Craswellers at Hayling. In 1895 Mary's sister, Martha, formerly a draper, died 

at Sherwood Cottage, Havant (opposite Lymbourne) aged sixty-nine. Her 

effects were valued at £6,531 14s 7d.  

London Gazette 1900 

In the Matter of a Deed of Assignment for the benefit of Creditors 

executed on the 16th day of May, 1900, by Charles Frederick Charge, 

of London House, East Street, Havant, Draper. The creditors of the 

above named Charles Frederick Charge who have not already sent in 

their claims, are required, on or before the 8th day of October, 1900, 

to send in their names and addresses, and particulars of their debts or 

claims to William Nicholson, of 12, Wood Street, in the City of London, 

Accountant, the Trustee under the said deed, or in default they will be 

excluded from the Dividends declared under the said deed. 

Dated this 12th day of September, 1900 

ASHURST, MORRIS, CRISP, and CO.,  

17, Throgmorton Avenue, London, E.C.,  

Solicitors for the said Trustee. 

Charles F. Charge was born in Stamford in 1858 but died in Chichester in 

ρωσσȢ !Î ρψωχ ÄÉÒÅÃÔÏÒÙ ÓÈÏ×Ó ÔÈÅ (ÁÖÁÎÔ ÓÈÏÐ ÁÓ Ȭ#ÈÁÓȢ &Ȣ #ÈÁÒÇÅȭȢ 4ÈÅÙ 

were selling everything from calico and ribbons to garments to order, ready-

made clothes, boots, shoes and family mourning.  
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Havant Census 1861. This portion shows Mary Charge in East Street at what 
is now part of the Bear Hotel.  
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The baptismal record of Mary Charge. 


